Mitochondria: potential roles in embryogenesis and nucleocytoplasmic transfer

James M.Cummins

Division of Veterinary and Biomedical Sciences, Murdoch University, Perth, Western Australia

Address for correspondence: Division of Veterinary and Biomedical Sciences, Murdoch University, GPO Box S1400, Perth, Western Australia 6849. Tel: +61-8-9360 2668; Fax: +61-8-9310 4144; E-mail: cummins@central.murdoch.edu.au

This review examines current understanding of mammalian mitochondria and mitochondrial DNA in the light of new reproductive technologies. Mitochondria are central to ageing, apoptosis, metabolism and many diseases. They are controlled by a dual genome system, with cooperation between endogenous mitochondrial genes and mitochondrial genes translocated to the nucleus over the course of evolution. This translocation has been accompanied by extreme compression of the mitochondrial genome, with little tolerance for mutations or heteroplasmy (multiple genomes). The highly compact mitochondrial genome appears to be maintained by a stringent numerical bottleneck in embryogenesis and oogenesis, followed by clonal expansion from a highly selected subset of precursor molecules. The dual nature of control between nucleus and cytoplasm sets up potential conflicts, which are normally resolved by natural selection. Such potentially opposing interests and mechanisms are probably partly to blame for the poor rates of success in cloning animals by nuclear transfer. The ability to construct cell systems and animal embryos with novel combinations and permutations of nuclear and cytoplasmic genes will provide powerful tools for examining these fundamental biological questions. Clinically, attempts to 'rescue' abnormal human oocytes or embryos by cytoplasmic transfer risk complex and unpredictable outcomes emerging from disharmonious nuclear-cytoplasmic interactions.

Key words: ageing/apoptosis/cloning/cytoplasmic transfer/mitochondrial DNA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction Dual control of mitochondria

Evolution of mitochondria

Genome conflict and cooperation in mitochondrial evolution

Mitochondrial inheritance

The mitochondrial bottleneck

Control of mitochondrial function

Role of mitochondria in disease

Mitochondria and reproductive ageing

Mitochondria and apoptosis

Oogenesis

Embryogenesis

Implications for infertility treatment

Implications for cloning, cytoplasmic transfer and cell fusion

Acknowledgements

References

Introduction

In this review, the role of mitochondria in reproduction will be examined, with particular emphasis on the implications for cloning technology and manipulation of embryos by nuclear and cytoplasmic transfer. Readers who are interested in learning more about the rapidly growing field of mitochondrial genetics are referred to recent reviews on mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) in reproduction and the life cycle (Cummins, 1998); in disease and ageing (Lightowlers et al., 1997; Ozawa, 1997; Zeviani and Antozzi, 1997; Wallace, 1999), and on the regulation of transcription and replication (Shadel and Clayton, 1997).

Mitochondria were first described by Altmann in 1890 (see Graff et al., 1999), and 70 years later were shown to contain their own DNA (Nass and Nass, 1963). The essential role of these organelles in a variety of physiological processes is now recognized: controlling oxidative energy supply in normal and pathological physiology, embryonic development, apoptosis, and general body ageing. Besides the production of ATP in oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), mitochondria control several fundamental metabolic pathways including the synthesis of amino acids, folic acid, haem, nucleotides, pyrimidines, phospholipids and uric acid (Enriquez et al., 1999b). Mitochondrial proliferation, differentiation and local tuning carry on largely independent of (though ultimately subservient to) the host cell cycle (Enriquez et al., 1999b). These processes are modulated by thyroid hormone, along with general body metabolism (Enriquez et al., 1999a).

Dual control of mitochondria

Mitochondrial function is normally controlled by a combination of nuclear and mitochondrial genes. Generally, this proceeds amicably, but sometimes conflict occurs. This potential for dissonance between gene sets obviously has very ancient origins as it is also seen in living protists such as Paramecium (Ruiz and Beisson, 1980; Ruiz and Knowles, 1980). The potential for conflict has important implications for newly evolving technologies such as cloning, as unpredictable phenomena can emerge in living systems from disharmony between multiple gene sets (Hurst et al., 1996). This is clearly seen from the emerging work on genome imprinting, where certain genes influencing placental and embryonic development are expressed or suppressed according to whether they pass through paternal or maternal gametogenesis (Latham, 1999). The separation of effects according to parental origin is not necessarily limited to genetic elements. Differential control of maternally and paternally inherited cytoplasmic organelles can also occur for other cell elements such as the centrosomes, the microtubule organising centres of the cell (Wu and Palazzo, 1999).

Mitochondria are generally thought to exist in the body at a high level of homoplasmy (single haplotype), but this might be over-emphasized. Heteroplasmy (multiple haplotypes) may be more common than suspected, as most studies rely on fingerprinting techniques that cannot distinguish different types (Grzybowski, 2000).

The complete mitochondrial sequence is now known for 58 chordate and 29 non-chordate species, with some remarkable parallels and similarities (Boore, 1999). The genome is generally a closed circular molecule with little redundancy, although linear forms with telomere-like terminations are known (Nosek *et al.*, 1998). Mitochondrial DNA is tightly linked to the electron transport system and is thus vulnerable to damage—some components mutate up to 100 times more rapidly than nuclear DNA (Pesole *et al.*, 1999). Contrary to many texts, mitochondrial DNA has a range of endogenous repair mechanisms only slightly more restricted than nuclear DNA (Croteau *et al.*, 1999). Many reports have been published on the detection of mtDNA adducts as a result of cumulative oxidative damage with age (Beckman and Ames, 1996).

Evolution of mitochondria

The current consensus is that mitochondria originated in an endosymbiotic relationship between the ancestors of eukaryotic cells and α-proteobacteria. There is a certain degree of irony in that the closest living relative to mitochondria appears to be *Rickettsia*, an obligate intracellular parasite of crab lice that causes human typhus (Andersson *et al.*, 1998; Gray, 1998; Gray *et al.*, 1999). In this endosymbiotic process, the protoeukaryotes acquired the capacity to use oxygen for energy production by OXPHOS. There was a pronounced and extended rise in atmospheric oxygen over the period 375 to 275 million years ago, possibly through the increased burial of organic carbon (Berner, 1999). Mitochondria enabled the eukaryotes to prosper by exploiting this dangerous and highly reactive element. OXPHOS is much more efficient at producing energy than, for example, glycolysis or the citric

acid cycle (Lodish et al., 1995); thus organisms capable of using this pathway must have received an enormous selective advantage. However, this resulted in a trade-off between the benefits of OXPHOS, set against the risk of elevated free radical production. Oxygen can become partly reduced in mitochondria to form reactive oxygen species (ROS), some of which, such as OH·, O2- and H2O2, are potentially highly mutagenic and carcinogenic (Nohl, 1986; Halliwell, 1999). Each of the mitochondria in the human body, which together occupy up to 25% of the total cytosol (Lodish et al., 1995), produces around 10⁷ ROS per day (Max, 1992). These radicals cause much of the 'wear and tear' of ageing (Holliday, 1995). A form of control over uncontrolled ROS production by programmed cell death (apoptosis) thus probably arose at the same time as the endosymbiotic event. Mitochondria still play a central role in the apoptotic cascade through the release of cytochrome c (Green and Reed, 1998), a topic discussed further below under 'Mitochondria and apoptosis'. The risks of ROS production to the host genome are so great that no OXPHOS occurs in the nucleus. The process is relegated to the cytoplasm, where the mitochondria have been reduced to disposable elements. Apoptosis furnishes the organism with a facility for cell death should discordant cellular events threaten the integrity of the system. The need for conformity among mitochondria is probably a major driving force ensuring uniparental inheritance and low levels of heteroplasmy (Birky, 1995; Hurst, 1995; Cummins, 1998).

Genome conflict and cooperation in mitochondrial evolution

The idea that genomes act as consortia, with varying levels of cooperation and conflict, is not new. From the perspective of 'Darwinian Medicine', conditions that are presently regarded as 'diseases', together with the responses to them (for example, fever), may be manifestations of early stages of colonization or exploitation by microorganisms (Nesse and Williams, 1995). Newly acquired diseases—such as syphilis in Europe in the Middle Ages—tend to be the most virulent (Diamond, 1997), but natural selection gradually levels out conflicts until varying degrees of cooperation eventually emerge. Intercalation of mobile genetic elements is common in bacteria and protozoa. The ubiquitous presence of mobile eukaryotic genetic elements in metazoa was established by Barbara McClintock in work that won her the Nobel Prize in 1983 (Lodish, et al., 1995). A significant proportion of the eukaryotic nuclear DNA comprises 'foreign' intron sequences in the form of transposons and retrotransposons (Lodish et al., 1995; Carvalho and Clark, 1999). Much of this 'noise' in the genome appears to be neutral in terms of its impact on fitness (Kimura, 1983). It is generated by a variety of DNA turnover mechanisms (Dover, 1993), but there is some evidence (in Drosophila) that intron size may be subject to pruning by natural selection (Carvalho and Clark, 1999). Estimates of how much of the eukaryotic genome is 'foreign' vary. For example, retro-elements alone (genome sequences generated by reverse transcription from RNA) make up at least 10% of the mammalian genome (Löwer et al., 1996). As much as 3% of the human genome is inactive viral 'fossil' DNA including, surprisingly, HIV-like genes that probably date back 30 million years (Yang et

al., 1999). Such invasive DNA must threaten genomic integrity. In response, organisms have evolved a variety of epigenetic defence mechanisms such as imprinting, paramutation and gene silencing, which will inevitably compromise attempts to clone animals from somatic cell nuclei (Wolffe and Matzke, 1999). This is not the place to elaborate further on the lateral movement of genes between organisms; the interested reader is referred to a recent book reviewing the topic (Syvanen and Kado, 1999). It is also worth noting that, with the unfolding of the Human Genome Project, mtDNA, being relatively small, compact and fully sequenced, is a useful test-bed for bioinformatic tools (see for example http://www3.ebi.ac.uk/Research/Mitbase/mitbase.pl) (Anderson et al., 1981; Andrews et al., 1999; Attimonelli et al., 1999; Curole and Kocher, 1999).

During the course of vertebrate evolution, most mitochondrial genes have 'jumped' to the nucleus. In mammals, only 37 genes remain in 16.7 kb of DNA, apparently the bare minimum needed to encode for the dangerous, free radicalgenerating business of electron transport. This reduction is extreme, and the resulting genome has no introns: some genes even overlap. By comparison, yeast mtDNA is much larger (78 kb) and plant forms are gigantic—up to 2.5×10⁶ bp in muskmelons (Lodish et al., 1995). The history of translocation can be guessed from some existing phenomena. In yeast, for example, mtDNA sequences are involved in the repair of double-stranded nuclear DNA breaks (Richetti et al., 1999). This is a continuing process of colonization of nuclear by mitochondrial DNA. The nuclear genome of most eukaryotic organisms contains many active mitochondrial genes, together with truncated or rearranged sequences homologous to mtDNA (Thorsness and Weber, 1996). There are many possible mechanisms and pathways for exchange to have occurred. These include temporary openings in the mitochondrial membranes during fusion and/or budding processes, degradation followed by release of mtDNA to the cytoplasm, illicit use of nucleic acid or protein import machinery, or fusion between nuclear and mitochondrial membranes. Similar unusual events may help to explain recent evidence for rare mtDNA recombination events in human populations (Awadalla et al., 1999; Eyre-Walker et al., 1999a; Hagelberg et al., 1999), which have challenged the accuracy of molecular clocks used for taxonomic reconstruction (Strauss, 1999). Moreover, recent work using long polymerase chain reaction (PCR) has identified paternal mtDNA in abnormal (polyploid) human embryos (St John et al., 2000a,b). Studies in yeast have shown that the rate of transfer of mitochondrial genesized DNA fragments to the nucleus is approximately equivalent to the rate of spontaneous mutation of nuclear genes (Thorsness and Weber, 1996). This history of active interchange between the nuclear and mitochondrial genomes has implications for the clinical investigation of mitochondrial diseases. It is important to distinguish between pathogenic mutations in the mtDNA itself as opposed to 'fossil' nuclear pseudogenes (Wallace et al., 1997; Herrnstadt et al., 1999). The bottom line is that for human (and probably most vertebrates), the long processes of evolution appear to have whittled mtDNA down to a bare minimum, with little room for error except in the hypervariable 'control' region used for taxonomic purposes. The lack of tolerance for mutations, deletions or heteroplasmy probably explains why natural selection exerts such extreme controls against variation or heteroplasmy within the organism. Indeed, birds appear to be even less tolerant of mtDNA mutations than mammals (Stanley and Harrison, 1999). On a cautionary note, heteroplasmy may be more widespread than usually reported: a recent study documents high levels of heteroplasmy in human hair roots (Grzybowski, 2000).

Mitochondrial inheritance

The view that spermatozoa are mere vectors for paternal DNA is over-simplistic. In most mammals, but not murine rodents (Manandhar et al., 1998), the spermatozoon also transmits the centrosome that acts as a template for the microtubule assembly for pronuclear juxtaposition and the first spindle apparatus of the zygote (Hewitson et al., 1999). The spermatozoon also transmits some unique molecules such as 'oscillin' that triggers calcium oscillations and oocyte activation (Dale et al., 1999; Swann and Parrington, 1999) and paternal tubulin (Simerly et al., 1999). Despite misinformation in many texts, the spermatozoon also carries in its full complement of midpiece mitochondria, but these are normally eliminated in early embryogenesis in a speciesspecific manner (Ankel-Simons and Cummins, 1996; Shoubridge, 1999; Cummins, 2000a). How spermatozoa are recognized as 'self' is not clear, but ubiquitination of sperm midpiece proteins during spermiogenesis opens the way for later recognition and destruction by embryonic proteasomes (Sutovsky et al., 1999; Cummins, 2000a). Possible targets for ubiquitination are the unique sperm mitochondrial capsule selenoprotein—a modified form of glutathione peroxidase with structural function (Cataldo et al., 1996; Cummins et al., 1998). Other potential sperm recognition targets include the mitochondrial protein prohibitin (Choongkittaworn et al., 1993; Berger and Yaffe, 1998; Sutovsky et al., 1999). This is one of a family of proteins with roles in senescence and tumour suppression that are also implicated in the control of ovarian granulosa cell apoptosis (Thompson et al., 1999). Foreign sperm mtDNA, or mtDNA in spermatozoa from construct mice with a differing nuclear genotype from the recipient can survive in embryos, but in an erratic and unpredictable manner (Gyllensten et al., 1991; Kaneda et al., 1995; Shitara et al., 1998).

The evolutionary reasons for uniparental inheritance of mitochondria (and other cytoplasmic organelles) are obscure, and the mechanisms by which it is achieved are extraordinarily diverse (Birky, 1995). The most likely hypothesis is that heteroplasmy in cytoplasmic genes such as mtDNA sets up potential tensions between nuclear and mitochondrial control elements that will reduce fitness and will be selected against by natural selection. Thus, elimination of one set of cytoplasmic genes at fertilization avoids the possibility of lethal genome conflict discussed above (Hurst, 1994; Hurst and McVean, 1996). The debate over the strict imposition of uniparental inheritance of mtDNA has been re-kindled by observations on recombination in mtDNA in human populations discussed above (Awadalla et al., 1999; Eyre-Walker et al., 1999a,b; Hagelberg et al., 1999; Macaulay et al., 1999). Moreover, the inability of sperm mitochondria to survive in experimental transfer situations does

not necessarily prove that there is an insurmountable barrier: other factors such as reduced redox potential may prevent sperm mitochondrial survival (Van Blerkom *et al.*, 1998).

The mitochondrial bottleneck

Mitochondria pass through a stringent genetic bottleneck during transmission in the female life cycle. Clonal expansion from this bottleneck acts to maintain homoplasmy, supporting the general hypothesis that selective pressure acts to minimize heteroplasmy (Cummins, 1998, 2000a,b). However, as has been pointed out (Smith et al., 2000), there are several periods during which restriction of copy number could occur. These are during the replication and migration of primary germ cells (PGC); during oogenesis; during early embryogenesis and during the commitment of embryonic inner-cell-mass elements to form PGC. The human oocyte has around 100 000 mitochondria, each with a single copy of mtDNA (Chen et al., 1995; Jansen and de Boer, 1998). In the mouse, transcription of mitochondrial mRNA starts at the 2-cell stage (Taylor and Pikó, 1995), but replication of mtDNA does not occur until the egg cylinder stage (Pikó, 1975; Pikó and Matsumoto, 1976; Ebert et al., 1988). At this point, there are 910 cells (Hogan et al., 1986), so the pre-migratory mouse germ cells probably receive 10-100 copies of mtDNA (Jansen and de Boer, 1998). In other mammals, including humans, replication probably commences at the hatched blastocyst stage (Van Blerkom, 1989; Smith and Alcivar, 1993). This numerical bottleneck in the germ cell lineage, perhaps coupled with selection against defective mtDNA, ensures that the oocyte receives a highly homogeneous population of mtDNAs by clonal expansion (Marchington et al., 1997; Cummins 2000b). One estimate is that the effective founder population of mtDNA in mammals could be as small as a single copy (Blok et al., 1997), while another estimate for the mouse suggests around 200 (Jenuth et al., 1996). The final disposition of mitochondria in tissues is not random, but can show tissue-specific and age-related selection for different mtDNA genotypes in experimental heteroplasmic animals (Jenuth et al., 1997). This is discussed further below. It emphasizes the unpredictable interactions that can develop between nuclear and mitochondrial genomes.

One long-term evolutionary implication for the 'bottleneck' theory is that numerical restriction, coupled with clonal expansion and rigorous selection against defective mtDNA, can serve to counterbalance Müller's ratchet. This is the inexorable accumulation of defective mutations in asexually reproducing life forms (Bergstrom and Pritchard, 1998). This also helps explain the rapidity with which novel mitochondrial genotypes can become fixed in populations (Ashley *et al.*, 1989).

Control of mitochondrial function

Control of mitochondria is complex and involves cooperation between nuclear and mitochondrial genomes (Poyton and McEwen, 1996; Scarpulla, 1997; Surpin and Chory, 1997; Enriquez *et al.*, 1999b). What remains of the genome in the organelle is a 16.5 kb fragment of DNA existing as several copies packed into nucleoids within the matrix. Only 37 genes remain, coding in part for 13 proteins of the electron transport chain, 22 tRNA and two rRNA species. The majority of the genes, along

with pseudogenes and extra copies, are in the nucleus, where they evolve at the slower rate of nuclear genes (Collura and Stewart, 1995). Proteins required for mitochondrial function are synthesized in the cytosol and imported into the mitochondrial matrix with the aid of chaperones (Shadel and Clayton, 1997). This is an energy-dependent process driven by ATP consumption and the electrochemical potential across the inner mitochondrial membrane (Lodish *et al.*, 1995; Neupert, 1997).

The rapid evolution of parts of the mitochondrial genome in concert with its partner nuclear genes—especially by synonymous base pair mutations (Pesole et al., 1999; Saccone et al., 1999) has resulted in a high degree of species-specificity for many nuclear-mitochondrial interactions. Thus, mtDNA from chimpanzees, bonobos and gorillas can substitute for human mtDNA in human mitochondrial-free cell lines. However, mtDNA from orang-utans and Old and New World monkeys and from lemurs cannot (Kenyon and Moraes, 1997). When ape mtDNA is introduced into human cells carrying either no mtDNA or with mutated forms, only those cells with a total absence of mtDNA can be re-populated. However, exogenous human mtDNA is successfully incorporated and maintained in these cells (Moraes et al., 1999). Whether this concept can be applied to oocytes and embryos has yet to be fully tested, and will be further discussed below.

Much work on the complex control of normal and pathological mitochondrial function comes from the discovery that cell lines can be constructed devoid of endogenous mtDNA (King and Attardi, 1989). These cells, designated ρ° , can be re-populated with xenogeneic mitochondrial lineages. These and other studies show that survival of mitochondrial genotypes is critically dependent on the nuclear background (Hayashi et al., 1991; Dunbar et al., 1995; Holt et al., 1997; Hao et al., 1999; Vergani et al., 1999). It has been shown recently that rat mtDNA can restore translation but not respiration in mtDNA-depleted mouse cell lines (Yamaoka et al., 2000). Thus, the need for harmony between nuclear and mitochondrial genes appears to vary in stringency, with the ability to assemble respiratory complexes being most sensitive. Such hybrid cell lines can tolerate heteroplasmy for many generations, only to show sudden and unpredictable shifts that may be associated with selection or with somatic karyotype alterations (Lehtinen et al., 2000). These findings reinforce the need to understand the complex interactions between nuclear and mitochondrial genomes. One technique which shows great promise in this area is the use of microcell transfer of cytoplasts containing selected intact chromosomes to mitochondrial-free cell lines (Barrientos and Moraes, 1998; Wu and Palazzo, 1999).

Finally, it is worth emphasizing that nucleocytoplasmic incompatibility is not limited to mitochondria. There is a minimal cytoplasmic volume required to support sperm decondensation and completion of fertilization (Wakayama and Yanagimachi, 1998). There are many other examples of incompatibilities between nucleus and the cytoplasm, or in nuclear programming by the cytoplasm. For example, in the inbred DDK mouse strain, an embryonic lethal phenotype is caused by incompatibility between a maternal factor of DDK origin and a paternal gene of non-DDK origin (Pardo-Manuel de Villena *et al.*, 1999). Genome imprinting affects such interactions, through conflicting tensions between imprinted genes differentially methylated when passaged through paternal or maternal gametogenesis (Latham, 1999).

Role of mitochondria in disease

The link between mitochondria and disease was first established in 1962 (Luft et al., 1962), and since then more than 50 different mitochondrial mutations have been linked to human disease (Larsson and Clayton, 1995; Wallace et al., 1995). Mitochondrial dysfunction is also associated with a variety of common bioenergetic disorders ranging from neurodegeneration to heart disease, diabetes and diabetes mellitus (Graff et al., 1999). There are also strong links between mitochondrial disease and oxidative stress-limiting control mechanisms (Melov et al., 1999). Most mitochondrial diseases lead to early death, and may even manifest as Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (Opdal et al., 1999), but there are intriguing hints that certain mutations can segregate differentially on a tissue-specific basis (Chinnery et al., 1999). This unpredictable interaction between mtDNA mutations and higher-order selective pressures can have implications for using mtDNA lineages in tracing human genealogies, as inheritance is not necessarily neutral (Wallace et al., 1999). A number of pharmacological and genetic strategies have been proposed for treating mitochondrial disorders (Graff et al., 1999), but these are still largely conjectural or on a cell-culture basis (Taylor et al., 1997; Murphy and Smith, 2000). Two recent reports also show that it is possible to produce genetically modified chimeric heteroplasmic mice by introducing mutant mtDNA into embryonic stem cells (Levy et al., 1999), or by direct microinjection into zygotes (Irwin et al., 1999). These will be valuable model systems for the development of therapies for mitochondrial diseases (Taylor et al., 1997).

Mitochondria and reproductive ageing

On a more prosaic level, accumulation of deletions and rearrangements in mtDNA is implicated in general body ageing. The importance of mitochondrial maintenance in normal ageing was first postulated in the early 1980s (Miguel et al., 1980) and later elaborated (Linnane et al., 1989). Since then, many reports have shown age-related links between accumulation of deletions and mutations in mtDNA, accompanied by an inevitable decline in neuromuscular efficiency (Ozawa, 1997; Wallace, 1997; Cortopassi and Wong, 1999). The mitochondrial theory of ageing has a number of competitors, however, and is not universally accepted as few valid quantitative data exist (Holliday, 1995; Gershon, 1999; Lightowlers et al., 1999). There are conflicting reports about the rate of accumulation of damage, as measured by adduct formation and repair (Croteau et al., 1999). One study (unconfirmed) showed that mtDNA may undergo extensive fragmentation with age, so that wild-type molecules decline to 11% of the total (Hayakawa et al., 1996). Ageing is also accompanied by large accumulations of point mutations in the mtDNA region responsible for the control of replication (Michikawa et al., 1999). There is no consensus on the mode of accumulation of damaged mtDNA (Croteau et al., 1999). The original theory postulated a form of 'wear and tear' model (Miquel et al., 1980). However, it was also suggested (de Grey, 1997) that mitochondria with reduced respiratory function are less liable to lysosomal degradation, because of reduced free radical production—a suggestion subject to recent dispute (Gershon, 1999; Kowald, 1999). One possibility is that defective mitochondria might proliferate because of reduced ATP production, leading to enhanced proliferation through reduction of ATP-driven negative feedback on replication (Enriquez et al., 1996; Hofhaus and Gattermann, 1999). The mitochondrial 'wear and tear' theory is supported, however, by evidence of impaired mtDNA repair mechanisms in diseases that show premature ageing, such as xeroderma pigmentosum (Driggers et al., 1996) and Down syndrome (Druzhyna et al., 1998). Moreover, mitochondrial variants and maternal genetic effects are strongly associated with human longevity (De Benedictis et al., 1999; Korpelainen, 1999). It seems likely that mitochondria, control of ROS and life expectancy may be linked through common genetic systems controlling trade-offs between life span and reproductive output (Kirkwood and Kowald, 1997).

As mitochondria are clearly implicated in general ageing processes it is logical to suspect that mtDNA may also play a specific role in female reproductive ageing (Jansen, 1995; Janny and Ménézo, 1996; Jansen and de Boer, 1998; Kirkwood, 1998). A nested PCR strategy amplifying two-thirds of the mitochondrial genome has also been used to study human oocytes and embryos (Barritt et al., 1999b). These authors found rearrangements in 50.5% of the oocytes, declining significantly to 32.5% in the embryos, but there was no relation to maternal age. For patients with a mutation causing Kearns-Sayre syndrome, the same team also found significantly fewer mutations in embryos compared with oocytes (Brenner et al., 1998). This strongly implicates a role for mtDNA in determining oocyte fertilizability and embryo development. Once menopause occurs, there is an increase in the general ovarian levels of mtDNA deletion (Kitagawa et al., 1993; Suganuma et al., 1993). It has also been found (Keefe et al., 1995) that oocytes from older women were more likely to contain detectable levels of mtDNA deletions. Others (Muller-Hocker et al., 1996) found evidence of age-related increases in mitochondrial volumes in human oocytes, but were unable to relate this to changes in mtDNA or measurable OXPHOS capacity. Ageing in all mammals studied results in reduced oocyte fertility and increased levels of abnormal development (Foote, 1975; Adams, 1984). Moreover, age-related impaired protein synthesis and mitochondrial function play a role in the increased aneuploidy rates through altered maturation kinetics and spindle formation (Eichenlaub-Ritter, 1998).

Mitochondria and apoptosis

Apoptosis is the process of programmed cell death, either as a part of normal tissue differentiation, or as a means of eliminating defective cells. Caspases, a family of cysteine-dependent aspartate-specific proteases, are central to the control of this. There are two main groups. Initiator caspases, such as caspase-8 and caspase-9, function to activate other caspases. Executor caspases, such as caspase-3, -6 and -7, are responsible for dismantling cellular proteins.

There are at least three cellular control mechanisms (Mehmet, 2000). First, the plasma membrane can release proteins that trigger activation of caspases. In this process, an apoptosis-inducing signalling complex recruits caspase-8 after the binding of specific ligands oligomerizes 'death receptors'. Second, the endoplasmic reticulum can independently activate caspase-12 following the disruption of ionic balance (Nakagawa *et al.*, 2000).

Third, and relevant to this review, mitochondria trigger apoptosis through disruption of redox potential, electron transport, OXPHOS and ATP production. Apoptosis results from a cascade initiated by caspase-9, activated when cytochrome \boldsymbol{c} is released into the cytoplasm from the space between the inner and outer mitochondrial membranes.

Thus, leakage from dying mitochondria is an important event that triggers the cascade leading to apoptosis (Shimizu et al., 1999). This probably dates back to the ancestral endosymbiotic event, allowing 'the fundamental framework for bacterial warfare to be incorporated into the cell death mechanisms used by animal cells' (Green and Reed, 1998). This process is modulated by two sets of proteins. The Bcl-2 family inhibits cytochrome c release (Dell'Orco et al., 1996), whereas proteins that promote cell death (Bax and Bak) stimulate opening of a voltage-dependent voltage channel (porin) causing water to enter the mitochondrion. This swells and dies, allowing intra-organelle factors to escape (Martinou, 1999). Homeostasis between cell death and cell proliferation probably relies on heterodimerism between Bcl-2 and Bax (Kroemer et al., 1997). These events lead to caspase activation with secondary endonuclease activation and consequent DNA fragmentation (Zamzami et al., 1997; Trbovich et al., 1998). There is, however, recent evidence that apoptosis induced by the p53 transcription factor can occur despite the lack of cytochrome c release into the cytosol, possibly by modulating mitochondrial membrane potential via ROS release (Li et al., 1999).

Oogenesis

It is now clear that there is considerable plasticity and capacity for self-repair in the mammalian oocyte. There are well-defined cytoplasmic axes and gradients (Antczak and Van Blerkom, 1997; Edwards and Beard, 1997). These help to determine cleavage planes and the fate of components in later embryonic development (Gardner, 1997). Moreover, these axes appear to be predetermined by follicular factors such as blood supply and oxygen availability during follicle growth (Van Blerkom, 1998). At ovulation, oocytes contain around 100 000 mitochondria, but these are structurally undifferentiated and generate low concentrations of ATP in oocytes and early embryos, compared with later stages (Dvorak and Tesarik, 1985; Van Blerkom, 1989). The mitochondria undergo marked microtubule-mediated redistribution in the maturing oocyte and early embryo, presumably in response to localized energetic needs (Muggleton-Harris and Brown, 1988; Pozo et al., 1990; Barnett et al., 1996; Van Blerkom et al., 1998). Disruption of this process adversely affects chromosomal organization and segregation (Van Blerkom, 1991). There is also significant fusion between mitochondria at around the time of ovulation, so that overall numbers are reduced by about one-third (Cran, 1987; Smith and Alcivar, 1993). There are significant differences in net ATP content between oocytes, and within and between individuals, that reflect later embryo developmental potential (Van Blerkom et al., 1995). Moreover, completion of maturation is critically dependent on a correct nucleocytoplasmic volume ratio (Karnikova et al., 1998). This possibly affects the ability to support normal chromosomal segregation (Gaulden, 1992). Reduced ATP content produced by uncoupling OXPHOS in oocytes does not affect fertilization, but reduces later embryo development rates (Van Blerkom *et al.*, 1995). Declining mitochondrial function in older women may also contribute to declining fertility (Keefe *et al.*, 1995), and this would be consistent with the general role of mitochondria in life span determination discussed earlier (Kirkwood and Kowald, 1997).

Almost all oocytes are eliminated by apoptosis during atresia in fetal and adult life. One essential unresolved question is whether selection based on mtDNA plays any role in this (Jansen and de Boer, 1998; Short, 1998; Krakauer and Mira, 1999; Shoubridge, 1999; Cummins, 2000b). If there were such selection, it would then serve as a fail-safe mechanism to reinforce the power of the germline bottleneck to select for mitochondrial uniformity and integrity in the oocyte and embryo. Given the quiescent picture of the oocyte's mitochondria discussed above, it is difficult to see how this could work, and the oocyte itself is insulated in a cocoon of granulosa cells from the earliest days of ovarian development. However, there are several working hypotheses that could be tested. The critical phase to examine would probably be the period when primordial oocytes enter the FSH-responsive growth phase, which is when apoptotic atresia commences (Morita and Tilly, 1999). First, the ovary may be testing for general levels of oxidative capacity in terms of ATP production, as this would determine the ability to grow in response to FSH (Van Blerkom et al., 1995). While meiotic arrest in oocytes is maintained by high cAMP concentrations (Downs et al., 1989), aberrant cAMP concentrations can also accelerate apoptosis in mature follicles (Amsterdam et al., 1999). Second, the ovary may rely on tonic calcium concentrations as a measure of oocyte fitness: calcium homeostasis and mitochondrial metabolism are closely interwoven (McCormack and Denton, 1993), and mosaic patterns of free calcium alterations and mitochondrial damage can be seen in neurodegenerative states (Itoh et al., 1996). This would in a sense foreshadow events that follow fertilization, where impaired calcium signals are implicated in abnormal embryo development and death (Tesarik, 1999). Third, the ability of the growing follicle to respond to FSH by oestrogen production, via the mitochondrial cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage enzymes, may be impaired. However, this is strictly a function of the granulosa cells and not the oocyte itself (Stocco, 1999). Fourth, there may also be mitochondrial involvement in the production of meiosis-activating sterols (Byskov et al., 1999).

Various studies are beginning to resolve some of these questions. One group (Zhang *et al.*, 1999) studied meiotic maturation in human oocytes reconstructed by germinal vesicle transfer between women of different age groups (>38 and 31 years old respectively), and found normal maturation rates and meiotic chromosomes. Given the quiescent nature of the oocyte's mitochondria, the significance of this observation for evaluating later nuclear–mitochondrial interactions is, as yet, unclear.

Embryogenesis

The importance of mitochondrial health for the embryo is obvious, and most mitochondrial mutations outside the hypervariable D-loop are probably eliminated by embryo death (Wallace *et al.*, 1995). The importance of cytoplasmic factors, and cytoplasmic ATP for growth and development have been reviewed (Smith and Alcivar, 1993; Van Blerkom *et al.*, 1998). Compared with

most cell systems, the exact OXPHOS energetic requirements for various embryo stages are not particularly well characterized across mammals (Barnett and Bavister, 1996). However, among the species that have been studied, such as bovine (Thompson et al., 1996), rodent (Brison and Leese, 1991; Leese, 1991) and human (Leese et al., 1998), there is generally a shift in ATP production from oxidative metabolism to glycolysis during the first three to four cell divisions. This may anticipate low partial pressures of oxygen in the uterine cavity. Indeed, optimal oxygen concentrations during embryogenesis appear to be critical for normal embryogenesis, and atmospheric levels (21%) may even inhibit normal development to the blastocyst stage. The importance of these shifts in embryo metabolism, with a shift from pyruvate to glucose metabolism, is now recognized by the new multi-phase human embryo culture media (Gardner et al., 1998). Moreover, there are clear differences between in-vivo- and in-vitro-produced embryos, particularly as development proceeds. In cattle, for example, aerobic glycolysis is 2-fold higher in invitro-produced embryos compared with those produced in vivo (Khurana and Niemann, 2000). It is not clear what role mitochondria play in these developments. The mtDNA does not replicate in early embryogenesis, although both nuclear and mitochondrial genes commence transcription from the 2-cell stage in the mouse. By the blastocyst stage there is 30-fold increase in nuclear-encoded respiratory chain peptides, accounting for 3.5-7% of the total protein synthesis (Taylor and Pikó, 1995). Significant variations have been found in embryonic metabolism and development rates in relation to oxygen concentration in congenic mouse constructs, where the mtDNA differs from that of the nucleus (Nagao et al., 1997, 1998b). Moreover, subsequent bioenergetic performance as adults can be impaired in such animals (Nagao et al., 1998a). This re-emphasizes the need for congruence between nuclear and mitochondrial genes in development. Elucidating such interactions between mitochondrial and nuclear genomes and embryo metabolism is critical if embryo growth rates are to be improved in vitro. It may also help in understanding the puzzling observations on altered ruminant fetal growth patterns following brief periods of embryo culture in vitro (Thompson et al., 1995). Death of embryos is accompanied by apoptosis and the activation of death regulatory proteins, but the role of mitochondria in this is not yet well defined (Jurisicova et al., 1998).

Implications for infertility treatment

Male subfertility and sperm dysfunction are associated with defective mitochondrial function and reduced copy numbers (Folgerø et al., 1993; St John et al., 1997; Kao et al., 1998; Wei and Kao, 2000). Concerns have therefore been raised that intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) with dysfunctional spermatozoa might result in the evasion of embryonic recognition mechanisms and transmission of abnormal paternal mtDNA, with subsequent detrimental effects on the embryo (Lestienne et al., 1997). Others (St John et al., 2000b) have suggested that spermatozoa from such men may be particularly susceptible to free radical attack associated with reduced inner mitochondrial membrane potential. There is a recent report that paternal mtDNA can be detected in abnormal (polyploid) human embryos (St John et al., 2000a); moreover there is a correlation between levels of

fragmenting DNA, measured by COMET and terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUDP nick-end labelling (TUNEL) assays, and dysfunctional mitochondria in human spermatozoa (Donnelly, personal communication). Dysfunctional spermatozoa may also evade normal apoptotic surveillance systems in the testis, and thus transfer damaged DNA, with negative effects on embryonic development (Sakkas, 1999; Sakkas *et al.*, 1999). These observations, taken together with the claimed potential for recombination between paternal and maternal mtDNA, either directly or via a nuclear route (Awadalla *et al.*, 1999), suggest that the use of severely dysfunctional spermatozoa for ICSI should be regarded with caution. Despite these concerns, there is no clinical evidence yet that paternal mitochondria survive following ICSI (Houshmand *et al.*, 1997; Danan *et al.*, 1999).

Implications for cloning, cytoplasmic transfer and cell fusion

Experimental chimeras have been around for nearly 40 years (Tarkowski, 1998), but the recent development of cloning from somatic cell nuclei has revolutionized experimental embryology (Wilmut et al., 1997; Wakayama et al., 1998). The term 'clone' derives from the Greek 'klon', a twig or slip. Merriam-Webster (http://www.m-w.com/home.htm) defines it as 'the aggregate of the asexually produced progeny of an individual'. Strictly speaking, the animals that have been produced by somatic cell nuclear transfer over the past couple of years are not true clones, but are better described as 'genomic copies' as they are mosaics of cytoplasmic and nuclear elements from differing sources (Campbell, 1999). There are many possible permutations. Generally, to arrive at a combination that will support embryo development, the recipient cytoplast is an activated enucleated oocyte (Campbell, 1999; Wakayama and Yanagimachi, 1999). However, there are several possibilities for a source of introduced genetic material: nuclear transfer alone; transfer of a karyoplast (nucleus plus a small amount of cytoplasm and associated mitochondria); or complete fusion with a somatic cell. One would predict varying outcomes for the fate of introduced mitochondria, depending on chance association with existing oocyte polarity and axes (Edwards and Beard, 1997) or proximity to the eventual nucleus. This is true for mice when karyoplast or cytoplast transfer is used to produce heteroplasmy. In such constructs there is high variability in the mitochondrial genotypes of the progeny. There is evidence of occasional stable heteroplasmy, probably resulting from mitochondrial fusion (Meirelles and Smith, 1997, 1998). It is known that mitochondrial proliferation in general occurs first in those closest to the nucleus (Shadel and Clayton, 1997), and of course proliferation itself does not normally start until the hatched blastocyst or egg cylinder stage, as discussed earlier. While 'Dolly' the sheep was created by fusing a mammary fibroblast with an enucleated oocyte (Campbell et al., 1996), there is no evidence that the transferred mitochondria survived (Evans et al., 1999), and this is a surprisingly common finding. Thus, others (Takeda et al., 1999) found that the recipient oocyte mitochondria dominated in cloned cattle. In addition, low levels of transmission of mtDNA were observed in cows produced by cytoplast-blastomere fusion, but this level varied markedly according to the stage of development of the donor cell (Steinborn et al., 1998a,b). Varying levels of heteroplasmy were also found

in cloned cows produced by blastomere transfer (Hiendleder *et al.*, 1999). It is worth reiterating that heteroplasmy may be naturally higher than hitherto suspected (Grzybowski, 2000).

This field is changing rapidly as new models are explored, and one group (Takeda *et al.*, 2000) has found preferential replication of RR strain mtDNA in heteroplasmic embryos produced by fusion with C57BL.6 strain mouse embryos. At the time of completing this review, the only clear picture that emerges is that the outcome and eventual dominance or disappearances of different mitochondrial genotypes are difficult to predict from the nuclear genome.

Cytoplasmic transfer can be used to create experimental heteroplasmic 'transmitochondrial' mice (Irwin et al., 1999). This approach has recently been advocated as a means of achieving pregnancy for women with repeated failed IVF due to poor oocyte or embryo quality. The concept is one of 'rescuing' embryos by improving the quality of the cytoplasm (Cohen et al., 1997, 1998; Alikani et al., 1999; Huang et al., 1999; Lanzendorf et al., 1999). Similar interventions have been reported to remove abnormal or fragmenting cytoplasm (Alikani et al., 1999) or to restore euploidy by removal of excess pronuclei (Cohen et al., 1994). The birth of children has been reported following transfer of donor cytoplasts (Cohen et al., 1998). In the first case studied, analysis of the mtDNA showed that the fetus reverted to maternal type (Cohen et al., 1997), while an unconfirmed report indicated that children born may be heteroplasmic (Barritt et al., 1999a), a surprising finding given the enormous natural selective pressures that have evolved apparently to eliminate or minimize this state, as discussed earlier.

One clear message emerging from the animal cloning work is that it is extremely inefficient: only 1–2% of nuclear transfer clones survive to birth. There is unexpectedly high embryonic wastage at all stages and marked variation from normal body size, together with growth and immune system abnormalities in many of the survivors (Campbell, 1999; Wakayama and Yanagimachi, 1999). Some of these anomalies may be related to adverse epigenetic effects of culture conditions (Young *et al.*, 1998; Sinclair *et al.*, 1999), or to problems with genome imprinting (Latham, 1999). However, incompatibility between nuclear and cytoplasmic genes is also likely (Gartner *et al.*, 1998). Only further research will clarify this puzzling and rather alarming series of outcomes, if reproductive as opposed to therapeutic cloning is to come of age (Australian Academy of Science, 1999).

Acknowledgements

I thank my colleagues Anne Jequier and Roger Martin for critical comments on drafts of this review, and acknowledge with thanks many others who have helped me in the development of these ideas: Friderun Ankel-Simons, Carl Bergstrom, Adam Eyre-Walker, Erica Hagelberg, Norman Hecht, Rob Jansen, Roger Short, Bayard Storey, Peter Sutovsky and Ryuzo Yanagimachi. I am also grateful to Professor Hiroshi Imai for allowing me to quote from papers from his group that are in press.

Note added in proof

A recent comprehensive evaluation of the human mitochondrial genome found no evidence that recombination has played any significant role in the evolution of human mtDNA and gives support to the idea of a relatively recent African origin of *Homo sapiens* with a common origin at $52,000 \pm 27,500$ years ago (Ingman *et al.*, 2000). However, the detection of an extinct lineage of mtDNA

in an anatomically modern Australian Aboriginal individual from Lake Mungo, dated to $\sim\!60,\!000$ years ago, challenges this conclusion (Adcock *et al.*, 2001).

References

- Adams, C.E. (1984) Reproductive senescence. In Austin, C.R. and Short, R.V. (eds), Reproduction in Mammals. Book 4. Reproductive Fitness. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 210–233.
- Adcock, G.J., Dennis, E.S., Esteal, S. et al. (2001) Mitochondrial DNA sequences in ancient Australians: Implications for modern human origins. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA, 58, 537–542.
- Alikani, M., Cohen, J., Tomkin, G. et al. (1999) Human embryo fragmentation in vitro and its implications for pregnancy and implantation. Fertil. Steril., 71, 836–842.
- Amsterdam, A., Gold, R.S., Hosokawa, K. et al. (1999) Crosstalk among multiple signaling pathways controlling ovarian cell death. Trends Endocrinol. Metab., 10, 255–262.
- Anderson, S., Bankier, A.T., Barrell, B.G. et al. (1981) Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome. Nature, 290, 457–465.
- Andersson, S.G., Zomorodipour, A., Andersson, J.O. et al. (1998) The genome sequence of *Rickettsia prowazekii* and the origin of mitochondria. *Nature*, 396, 133–140.
- Andrews, R.M., Kubacka, I., Chinnery, P.F. et al. (1999) Reanalysis and revision of the Cambridge reference sequence for human mitochondrial DNA. Nature Genet., 23, 147.
- Ankel-Simons, F. and Cummins, J.M. (1996) Misconceptions about mitochondria and mammalian fertilization implications for theories on human evolution. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, **93**, 13859–13863.
- Antczak, M. and Van Blerkom, J. (1997) Oocyte influences on early development: the regulatory proteins leptin and STAT3 are polarized in mouse and human oocytes and differentially distributed within the cells of the preimplantation stage embryo. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.*, 3, 1067–1086.
- Ashley, M.V., Laipis, P.J. and Hauswirth, W.W. (1989) Rapid segregation of heteroplasmic bovine mitochondria. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 17, 7325–7331.
- Attimonelli, M., Altamura, N., Benne, R. *et al.* (1999) MitBASE: a comprehensive and integrated mitochondrial DNA database. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 27, 128–133.
- Australian Academy of Science (1999) On Human Cloning. A Position Statement. Canberra, Australia.
- Awadalla, P., Eyre-Walker, A. and Smith, J.M. (1999) Linkage disequilibrium and recombination in hominid mitochondrial DNA. Science, 286, 2524–2525.
- Barnett, D.K. and Bavister, B.D. (1996) What is the relationship between the metabolism of preimplantation embryos and their developmental competence? *Mol. Reprod. Dev.*, **43**, 105–133.
- Barnett, D.K., Kimura, J. and Bavister, B.D. (1996) Translocation of active mitochondria during hamster preimplantation embryo development studied by confocal laser scanning microscopy. *Dev. Dynam.*, **205**, 64–72.
- Barrientos, A. and Moraes, C.T. (1998) Simultaneous transfer of mitochondrial DNA and single chromosomes in somatic cells a novel approach for the study of defects in nuclear-mitochondrial communication. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, **7**, 1801–1808.
- Barritt, J., Cohen, J., Willandsen, S. *et al.* (1999a) Mitochondrial inheritance and the incidence of heteroplasmy after ooplasmic transplantation. *Fertil. Steril.*, **72**, S31.
- Barritt, J.A., Brenner, C.A., Cohen, J. et al. (1999b) Mitochondrial DNA rearrangements in human oocytes and embryos. Mol. Hum. Reprod., 5, 927–933.
- Beckman, K.B. and Ames, B.N. (1996) Detection and quantification of oxidative adducts of mitochondrial DNA. *Methods Enzymol.*, 264, 442–453.
- Berger, K.H. and Yaffe, M.P. (1998) Prohibitin family members interact genetically with mitochondrial inheritance components in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, **18**, 4043–4052.
- Bergstrom, C.T. and Pritchard, J. (1998) Germline bottlenecks and the evolutionary maintenance of mitochondrial genomes. *Genetics*, 149, 2135–2146.
- Berner, R.A. (1999) Atmospheric oxygen over Phanerozoic time. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, **96**, 10955–10957.
- Birky, C.W. (1995) Uniparental inheritance of mitochondrial and chloroplast genes: mechanisms and evolution. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, 92, 11331–11338.
- Blok, R.B., Gook, D.A., Thorburn, D.R. et al. (1997) Skewed segregation of

- the mtDNA nt 8993 ($T\rightarrow G$) mutation in human oocytes. Am. J. Hum. Genet., **60**, 1495–1501.
- Boore, J.L. (1999) Animal mitochondrial genomes. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 27, 1767–1780.
- Brenner, C.A., Wolny, Y.M., Barritt, J.A. et al. (1998) Mitochondrial DNA deletion in human oocytes and embryos. Mol. Hum. Reprod., 4, 887–892.
- Brison, D.R. and Leese, H.J. (1991) Energy metabolism in lat preimplantation rat embryos. *J. Reprod. Fertil.*, **93**, 245–251.
- Byskov, A.G., Andersen, C.Y., Leonardsen, L. et al. (1999) Meiosis activating sterols (MAS) and fertility in mammals and man. J. Exp. Zool., 285, 237–242.
- Campbell, K.H. (1999) Nuclear transfer in farm animal species. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol., 10, 245–252.
- Campbell, K.H., McWhir, J., Ritchie, W.A. et al. (1996) Sheep cloned by nuclear transfer from a cultured cell line. Nature, 380, 64–66.
- Carvalho, A.B. and Clark, A.G. (1999) Intron size and natural selection. Nature, 401, 344.
- Cataldo, L., Baig, K., Oko, R. et al. (1996) Developmental expression, intracellular localization, and selenium content of the cysteine-rich protein associated with the mitochondrial capsules of mouse sperm. Mol. Reprod. Dev., 45, 320–331.
- Chen, X., Prosser, R., Simonetti, S. et al. (1995) Rearranged mitochondrial genomes are present in human oocytes. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 57, 239–247.
- Chinnery, P.F., Zwijnenburg, P.J.G., Walker, M. et al. (1999) Nonrandom tissue distribution of mutant mtDNA. Am. J. Med. Genet., 85, 498–501.
- Choongkittaworn, N.M., Kim, K.H., Danner, D.B. et al. (1993) Expression of prohibitin in rat seminiferous epithelium. Biol. Reprod., 49, 300–310.
- Cohen, J., Alikani, M., Liu, H.C. et al. (1994) Rescue of human embryos by micromanipulation. Baillières Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol., 8, 95–116.
- Cohen, J., Scott, R., Schimmel, T. et al. (1997) Birth of infant after transfer of anucleate donor oocyte cytoplasm into recipient eggs. *Lancet*, 350, 186–187.
- Cohen, J., Scott, R., Alikani, M. et al. (1998) Ooplasmic transfer in mature human oocytes. Mol. Hum. Reprod., 4, 269–280.
- Collura, R.V. and Stewart, C.B. (1995) Insertions and duplications of mtDNA in the nuclear genomes of Old World monkeys and Hominoids. *Nature*, 378, 485–489.
- Cortopassi, G.A. and Wong, A. (1999) Mitochondria in organismal aging and degeneration. Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1410, 183–193.
- Cran, D.G. (1987) The distribution of organelles in mammalian oocytes following centrifugation prior to injection of foreign DNA. *Gamete Res.*, 18, 67–76.
- Croteau, D.L., Stierum, R.H. and Bohr, V.A. (1999) Mitochondrial DNA repair pathways. *Mutat. Res. DNA Repair*, 434, 137–148.
- Cummins, J.M. (1998) Mitochondrial DNA in mammalian reproduction. Rev. Reprod., 3, 172–182.
- Cummins, J.M. (2000a) Fertilization and the elimination of the paternal mitochondrial genome. *Hum. Reprod.*, **15** (Suppl. 2), 92–101.
- Cummins, J.M. (2000b) Mitochondrial dysfunction and ovarian aging. In te Velde, E.R., Pearson, P.L. and Broekmans, F.J. (eds.), Female Reproductive Aging. The Parthenon Publishing Group, New York, London, pp. 207–224.
- Cummins, J.M., Wakayama, T. and Yanagimachi, R. (1998) Fate of microinjected spermatid mitochondria in the mouse embryo and oocyte. *Zygote*, 6, 213–222.
- Curole, A.P. and Kocher, T.D. (1999) Mitogenomics: digging deeper with complete mitochondrial genomes. *Trends Ecol. Evolution*, 14, 394–398.
- Dale, B., Di Matteo, L., Marino, M. et al. (1999) Soluble sperm activating factors. In Gagnon, C. (ed.), The Male Gamete: from Basic Science to Clinical Applications. Cache River Press, Vienna, IL, pp. 291–302.
- Danan, C., Sternberg, D., Van Steirteghem, A. et al. (1999) Evaluation of parental mitochondrial inheritance in neonates born after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 65, 463–473.
- De Benedictis, G., Rose, I.G., Carrieri, G. *et al.* (1999) Mitochondrial DNA inherited variants are associated with successful aging and longevity in humans. *FASEB J.*, **13**, 1532–1536.
- de Grey, A.D. (1997) A proposed refinement of the mitochondrial free radical theory of aging. *BioEssays*, **19**, 161–166.
- Dell'Orco, R.T., McClung, J.K., Jupe, E.R. *et al.* (1996) Prohibitin and the senescent phenotype. *Exp. Gerontol.*, **31**, 245–252.
- Diamond, J. (1997) Guns, Germs and Steel. A Short History of Everybody for the Last 13,000 Years. 1st edn. Jonathan Cape, Random House, London.
- Dover, G.A. (1993) Evolution of genetic redundancy for advanced players. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.*, **3**, 902–910.
- Downs, S., Daniel, S., Bornslaeger, E. et al. (1989) Maintenance of meiotic

- arrest in mouse oocytes by purines: modulation of cAMP levels and cAMP phosphodiesterase activity. *Gamete Res.*, **23**, 323–335.
- Driggers, W.J., Grishko, V.I., Ledoux, S.P. *et al.* (1996) Defective repair of oxidative damage in the mitochondrial DNA of a Xeroderma pigmentosum group A cell line. *Cancer Res.*, **56**, 1262–1266.
- Druzhyna, N., Nair, R.G., Ledoux, S.P. et al. (1998) Defective repair of oxidative damage in mitochondrial DNA in Downs-syndrome. Mutat. Res. DNA Repair, 409, 81–89.
- Dunbar, D.R., Moonie, P.A., Jacobs, H.T. et al. (1995) Different cellular backgrounds confer a marked advantage to either mutant or wild-type mitochondrial genomes. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA, 92, 6562–6566.
- Dvorak, M. and Tesarik, J. (1985) Differentiation of mitochondria in the human pre-implantation embryo grown in vitro. Scr. Med. (Brno)., 58, 161–170
- Ebert, K.M., Liem, H. and Hecht, N.B. (1988) Mitochondrial DNA in the mouse preimplantation embryo. J. Reprod. Fertil., 82, 145–149.
- Edwards, R.G. and Beard, H.K. (1997) Oocyte polarity and cell determination in early mammalian embryos. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.*, **3**, 863–905.
- Eichenlaub-Ritter, U. (1998) Genetics of oocyte ageing. Maturitas, 30, 143–169.
- Enriquez, J.A., Fernandez-Silva, P., Perez-Martos, A. *et al.* (1996) The synthesis of mRNA in isolated mitochondria can be maintained for several hours and is inhibited by high levels of ATP. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, **237**, 601–610
- Enriquez, J.A., Fernandez-Silva, P., Garrido-Perez, N. et al. (1999a) Direct regulation of mitochondrial RNA synthesis by thyroid hormone. Mol. Cell. Biol., 19, 657–670.
- Enriquez, J.A., Fernandez-Silva, P. and Montoya, J. (1999b) Autonomous regulation in mammalian mitochondrial DNA transcription. *Biol. Chem.*, 380, 737–747.
- Evans, M.J., Gurer, C., Loike, J.D. *et al.* (1999) Mitochondrial DNA genotypes in nuclear transfer-derived cloned sheep. *Nature Genet.*, **23**, 90–93
- Eyre-Walker, A., Smith, N.H. and Maynard Smith, J. (1999a) How clonal are human mitochondria? *Proc. R. Soc. Lond., B*, **266**, 477–484.
- Eyre-Walker, A., Smith, N.H. and Maynard Smith, J. (1999b) Reply to Macaulay *et al.* (1999): mitochondrial DNA recombination–reasons to panic. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond., B*, **266**, 2041.
- Folgerø, T., Bertheussen, K., Lindal, S. *et al.* (1993) Mitochondrial disease and reduced sperm motility. *Hum. Reprod.*, **8**, 1863–1868.
- Foote, R.H. (1975) The gametogenic function of the aging ovary in the mammal. In Blandau, R.J. (ed.), Aging Gametes. Their Biology and Pathology. S. Karger, Basel, pp. 179–200.
- Gardner, D.K., Vella, P., Lane, M. et al. (1998) Culture and transfer of human blastocysts increases implantation rates and reduces the need for multiple embryo transfers. Fertil. Steril., 69, 84–88.
- Gardner, R.L. (1997) The early blastocyst is bilaterally symmetrical and its axis of symmetry is aligned with the animal-vegetal axis of the zygote in the mouse. *Development*. **124**, 289–301.
- Gartner, K., Bondioli, K., Hill, K. et al. (1998) High variability of body sizes within nucleus-transfer-clones of calves – artifacts or a biological feature? Reprod. Dom. Animals, 33, 67–75.
- Gaulden, M.E. (1992) Maternal age effect: the enigma of Down syndrome and other trisomic conditions. *Mutat. Res.*, 296, 69–88.
- Gershon, D. (1999) The mitochondrial theory of aging: is the culprit a faulty disposal system rather than indigenous mitochondrial alterations? *Exp. Gerontol.*, **34**, 613–619.
- Graff, C., Clayton, D.A. and Larsson, N.G. (1999) Mitochondrial medicine recent advances. *J. Intern. Med.*, **246**, 11–23.
- Gray, M.W. (1998) *Rickettsia*, typhus and the mitochondrial connection. *Nature*, **396**, 109–110.
- Gray, M.W., Burger, G. and Lang, B.F. (1999) Mitochondrial evolution. *Science*, **283**, 1476–1481.
- Green, D.R. and Reed, J.C. (1998) Mitochondria and apoptosis. *Science*, **281**, 1309–1312.
- Grzybowski, T. (2000) Extremely high levels of human mitochondrial DNA heteroplasmy in single hair roots. *Electrophoresis*, 21, 548–553.
- Gyllensten, U., Wharton, D., Josefsson, A. et al. (1991) Paternal inheritance of mitochondrial DNA in mice. Nature, 352, 255–257.
- Hagelberg, E., Goldman, N., Lió, P. et al. (1999) Evidence for mitochondrial DNA recombination in a human population of island Melanesia. Proc. R. Soc. Lond., B, 266, 485–492.
- Halliwell, B. (1999) Oxygen and nitrogen are pro-carcinogens. Damage to DNA by reactive oxygen, chlorine and nitrogen species: measurement,

- mechanism and the effects of nutrition. *Mutat. Res. Genet. Toxicol. Environ. Mutagen.*, **443**, 37–52.
- Hao, H., Morrison, L.E. and Moraes, C.T. (1999) Suppression of a mitochondrial tRNA gene mutation phenotype associated with changes in the nuclear background. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, 8, 1117–1124.
- Hayakawa, M., Katsumata, K., Yoneda, M. et al. (1996) Age-related extensive fragmentation of mitochondrial DNA into minicircles. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 226, 369–377.
- Hayashi, J., Ohta, S., Kikuchi, A. et al. (1991) Introduction of disease-related mitochondrial DNA deletions into HeLa cells lacking mitochondrial DNA results in mitochondrial dysfunction. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA, 88, 10614–10618.
- Herrnstadt, C., Clevenger, W., Ghosh, S.S. *et al.* (1999) A novel mitochondrial DNA-like sequence in the human nuclear genome. *Genomics*, **60**, 67–77.
- Hewitson, L., Simerly, C., Sutovsky, P. et al. (1999) The fate of sperm components within the egg during fertilization: implications for infertility. In Gagnon, C. (ed.), The Male Gamete: from Basic Science to Clinical Applications. Cache River Press, Vienna, IL, pp. 273–282.
- Hiendleder, S., Schmutz, S.M., Erhardt, G. et al. (1999) Transmitochondrial differences and varying levels of heteroplasmy in nuclear transfer cloned cattle. Mol. Reprod. Dev., 54, 24–31.
- Hofhaus, G. and Gattermann, N. (1999) Mitochondria harbouring mutant mtDNA a cuckoo in the nest? *Biol. Chem.*, **380**, 871–877.
- Hogan, B., Constantini, F. and Lacy, E. (1986) Manipulating the Mouse Embryo. A Laboratory Manual. 1st edn. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.
- Holliday, R. (1995) Understanding Ageing. 1st edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Holt, I.J., Dunbar, D.R. and Jacobs, H.T. (1997) Behaviour of a population of partially duplicated mitochondrial DNA molecules in cell culture – segregation, maintenance and recombination dependent upon nuclear background. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, 6, 1251–1260.
- Houshmand, M., Holme, E., Hanson, C. et al. (1997) Paternal mitochondrial DNA transferred to the offspring following intracytoplasmic sperm injection. J. Assist. Reprod. Genet., 14, 223–227.
- Huang, C.C., Cheng, T.C., Chang, H.H. et al. (1999) Birth after the injection of sperm and the cytoplasm of tripronucleate zygotes into metaphase II oocytes in patients with repeated implantation failure after assisted fertilization procedures. Fertil. Steril., 72, 702–706.
- Hurst, L.D. (1994) Cytoplasmic genetics under inbreeding and outbreeding. Proc. R. Soc. Lond., B, 258, 287–298.
- Hurst, L.D. (1995) Selfish genetic elements and their role in evolution the evolution of sex and some of what that entails. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B*, **349**, 321–332.
- Hurst, L.D. and McVean, G.T. (1996) Clade selection, reversible evolution and the persistence of selfish elements – the evolutionary dynamics of cytoplasmic incompatibility. Proc. R. Soc. Lond., B, 263, 97–104.
- Hurst, L.D., Atlan, A. and Bengtsson, B.O. (1996) Genetic conflicts. Q. Rev. Biol., 71, 317–364.
- Irwin, M.H., Johnson, L.W. and Pinkert, C.A. (1999) Isolation and microinjection of somatic cell-derived mitochondria and germline heteroplasmy in transmitochondrial mice. *Transgen. Res.*, 8, 119–123.
- Ingman, M., Kaessmann, H., Paabo, S. et al. (2000) Mitochondrial genome variation and the origin of modern humans. Nature, 408, 708–713.
- Itoh, K., Weis, S., Mehraein, P. et al. (1996) Cytochrome C oxidase defects of the human substantia nigra in normal aging. Neurobiol. Aging, 17, 843–848.
- Janny, L. and Ménézo, Y.J.R. (1996) Maternal age effect on early human embryonic development and blastocyst formation. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.*, 45, 31–37.
- Jansen, R.P.S. (1995) Older ovaries: ageing and reproduction. Med. J. Australia, 162, 623–624.
- Jansen, R.P.S. and de Boer, K. (1998) The bottleneck: mitochondrial imperatives in oogenesis and ovarian follicular fate. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.*, 145, 81–88.
- Jenuth, J.P., Peterson, A.C., Fu, K. et al. (1996) Random genetic drift in the female germline explains the rapid segregation of mammalian mitochondrial DNA. Nature Genet., 14, 146–151.
- Jenuth, J.P., Peterson, A.C. and Shoubridge, E.A. (1997) Tissue-specific selection for different mtDNA genotypes in heteroplasmic mice. *Nature Genet.*, 16, 93–95.
- Jurisicova, A., Latham, K.E., Casper, R.F. et al. (1998) Expression and regulation of genes associated with cell death during murine preimplantation embryo development. Mol. Reprod. Dev., 51, 243–253.
- Kaneda, H., Hayashi, J.I., Takahama, S. et al. (1995) Elimination of paternal

- mitochondrial DNA in intraspecific crosses during early mouse embryogenesis. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, **92**, 4542–4546.
- Kao, S.H., Chao, H.T. and Wei, Y.H. (1998) Multiple deletions of mitochondrial DNA are associated with the decline of motility and fertility of human spermatozoa. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.*, 4, 657–666.
- Karnikova, L., Urban, F., Moor, R. et al. (1998) Mouse oocyte maturation: the effect of modified nucleocytoplasmic ratio. Reprod. Nutr. Dev., 38, 665–670.
- Keefe, D.L., Niven-Fairchild, T., Powell, S. et al. (1995) Mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid deletions in oocytes and reproductive aging in women. Fertil. Steril., 64, 577–583.
- Kenyon, L. and Moraes, C.T. (1997) Expanding the functional human mitochondrial DNA database by the establishment of primate xenomitochondrial cybrids. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, 94, 9131–9135.
- Khurana, N.K. and Niemann, H. (2000) Energy metabolism in preimplantation bovine embryos derived *in vitro* or *in vivo*. *Biol. Reprod.*, **62**, 847–856.
- Kimura, M. (1983) The Neutral Theory of Natural Selection. 1st edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- King, M.P. and Attardi, G. (1989) Human cells lacking mtDNA: repopulation with exogenous mitochondria by complementation. *Science*, 246, 500–503.
- Kirkwood, T.B. (1998) Ovarian ageing and the general biology of senescence. *Maturitas*, **30**, 105–111.
- Kirkwood, T.B. and Kowald, A. (1997) Network theory of aging. Exp. Gerontol., 32, 395–399.
- Kitagawa, T., Suganuma, N., Nawa, A. et al. (1993) Rapid accumulation of deleted mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid in postmenopausal ovaries. Biol. Reprod., 49, 730–736.
- Korpelainen, H. (1999) Genetic maternal effects on human life span through the inheritance of mitochondrial DNA. Hum. Hered., 49, 183–185.
- Kowald, A. (1999) The mitochondrial theory of aging: do damaged mitochondria accumulate by delayed degradation? Exp. Gerontol., 34, 605–612.
- Krakauer, D.C. and Mira, A. (1999) Mitochondria and germ-cell death. Nature, 400, 125–126.
- Kroemer, G., Zamzami, N. and Susin, S.A. (1997) Mitochondrial control of apoptosis. *Immunol. Today*, 18, 44–51.
- Lanzendorf, S.E., Mayer, J.F., Toner, J. et al. (1999) Pregnancy following transfer of ooplasm from cryopreserved-thawed donor oocytes into recipient oocytes. Fertil. Steril., 71, 575–577.
- Larsson, N.G. and Clayton, D.A. (1995) Molecular genetic aspects of human mitochondrial disorders. Annu. Rev. Genet., 29, 151–178.
- Latham, K.E. (1999) Epigenetic modification and imprinting of the mammalian genome during development. Curr. Top. Dev. Biol., 43, 1–49.
- Leese, H.J. (1991) *Metabolism of the Preimplantation Mammalian Embryo*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York, Tokyo, pp. 35–72.
- Leese, H.J., Donnay, I. and Thompson, J.G. (1998) Human assisted conception: a cautionary tale. Lessons from domestic animals. *Hum. Reprod.*, 13, 184–202.
- Lehtinen, S.K., Hance, N., El Meziane, A. et al. (2000) Genotypic stability, segregation and selection in heteroplasmic human cell lines containing np 3243 mutant mtDNA. Genetics, 154, 363–380.
- Lestienne, P., Reynier, P., Chretien, M.F. et al. (1997) Oligoasthenospermia associated with multiple mitochondrial DNA rearrangements. Mol. Hum. Reprod., 3, 811–814.
- Levy, S.E., Waymire, K.G., Kim, Y.L. *et al.* (1999) Transfer of chloramphenicol-resistant mitochondrial DNA into the chimeric mouse. *Transgen. Res.*, **8**, 137–145.
- Li, P.-F., Dietz, R. and von Harsdorf, R. (1999) p53 regulates mitochondrial membrane potential through reactive oxygen species and induces cytochrome c-independent apoptosis blocked by Bcl-2. EMBO J., 18, 6027–6036.
- Lightowlers, R.N., Chinnery, P.F., Turnbull, D.M. et al. (1997) Mammalian mitochondrial genetics – heredity, heteroplasmy and disease. Trends Genet., 13, 450–455.
- Lightowlers, R.N., Jacobs, H.T. and Kajander, O.A. (1999) Mitochondrial DNA all things bad? *Trends Genet.*, **15**, 91–93.
- Linnane, A.W., Marzuki, S., Ozawa, T. et al. (1989) Mitochondrial DNA mutation as an important contribution to ageing and degenerative diseases. Lancet, 1, 642–645.
- Lodish, H., Baltimore, D., Berk, A. et al. (1995) Molecular Cell Biology. 3rd edn. W.H. Freeman and Co., New York.
- Löwer, R., Löwer, J. and Kurth, R. (1996) The viruses in all of us: characteristics and biological significance of human endogenous retrovirus sequences. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, 93, 5177–5184.

Mitochondria: inheritance, embryogenesis and cloning

- Luft, R., Ikkos, D., Palmieri, G. et al. (1962) A case of severe hypermetabolism of nonthyroid origin with a defect in the maintenance of mitochondrial respiratory control: a correlated clinical, biochemical and morphological study. J. Clin. Invest., 41, 1776–1804.
- Macaulay, V., Richards, M. and Sykes, B. (1999) Mitochondrial DNA recombination – no need to panic. Proc. R. Soc. Lond., B, 266, 2037.
- Manandhar, G., Sutovsky, P., Joshi, H.C. et al. (1998) Centrosome reduction during mouse spermiogenesis. Dev. Biol., 203, 424–434.
- Marchington, D.R., Hartshorne, G.M., Barlow, D. et al. (1997) Homopolymeric tract heteroplasmy in mtDNA from tissues and single oocytes – support for a genetic bottleneck. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 60, 408–416.
- Martinou, J.C. (1999) Apoptosis. Key to the mitochondrial gate. *Nature*, 399, 411–412.
- Max, B. (1992) This and that: hair pigments, the hypoxic basis of life and the Virgilian journey of the spermatozoon. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, 13, 272–276.
- McCormack, J.G. and Denton, R.M. (1993) Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ transport and the role of intramitochondrial Ca²⁺ in the regulation of energy metabolism. *Dev. Neurosci.*, **15**, 165–173.
- Mehmet, H. (2000) Caspases find a new place to hide. Nature, 403, 29-30.
- Meirelles, F.V. and Smith, L.C. (1997) Mitochondrial genotype segregation in a mouse heteroplasmic lineage produced by embryonic karyoplast transplantation. *Genetics*, **145**, 445–451.
- Meirelles, F. and Smith, L.C. (1998) Mitochondrial genotype segregation during preimplantation development in mouse heteroplasmic embryos. *Genetics.* 148, 877–883.
- Melov, S., Coskun, P.E. and Wallace, D.C. (1999) Mouse models of mitochondrial disease, oxidative stress, and senescence. *Mutat. Res.* DNA Repair, 434, 233–242.
- Michikawa, Y., Mazzucchelli, F., Bresolin, N. et al. (1999) Aging-dependent large accumulation of point mutations in the human mtDNA control region for replication. Science, 286, 774–779.
- Miquel, J., Economos, A.C., Fleming, J. et al. (1980) Mitochondrial role in cell aging. Exp. Gerontol., 15, 575–591.
- Moraes, C.T., Kenyon, L. and Hao, H.L. (1999) Mechanisms of human mitochondrial DNA maintenance: the determining role of primary sequence and length over function. *Mol. Biol. Cell.*, 10, 3345–3356.
- Morita, Y. and Tilly, J.L. (1999) Oocyte apoptosis: like sand through an hourglass. Dev. Biol., 213, 1–17.
- Muggleton-Harris, A.L. and Brown, J.J. (1988) Cytoplasmic factors influence mitochondrial reorganization and resumption of cleavage during culture of early mouse embryos. *Hum. Reprod.*, 3, 1020–1028.
- Muller-Hocker, J., Schafer, S., Weis, S. et al. (1996) Morphologicalcytochemical and molecular genetic analyses of mitochondria in isolated human oocytes in the reproductive age. Mol. Hum. Reprod., 2, 951–958.
- Murphy, M.P. and Smith, R.A.J. (2000) Drug delivery to mitochondria: the key to mitochondrial medicine. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, **41**, 235–250.
- Nagao, Y., Totsuka, Y., Atomi, Y. et al. (1997) Heterogenous mitochondria DNA introduced by nuclear transfer influences the developmental ability of mouse embryos in vitro. Theriogenology, 47, 233.
- Nagao, Y., Totsuka, Y., Atomi, Y. et al. (1998a) Decreased physical performance of congenic mice with mismatch between the nuclear and the mitochondrial genome. Genes Genet. Syst., 73, 21–27.
- Nagao, Y., Totsuka, Y., Atomi, Y. et al. (1998b) Effect of different type of mitochondrial DNA on preimplantation embryonic development in the mouse. J. Reprod. Dev., 44, 129–134.
- Nakagawa, T., Zhu, H., Morishima, N. et al. (2000) Caspase-12 mediates endoplasmic-reticulum-specific apoptosis and cytotoxicity by amyloidbeta. Nature, 403, 98–103.
- Nass, M.M.K. and Nass, S. (1963) Intramitochondrial fibers with DNA characteristics. I. Fixation and electron staining reactions. J. Cell Biol., 19, 593–611.
- Nesse, R.M. and Williams, G.C. (1995) Why We Get Sick. The New Science of Darwinian Medicine. 1st edn. Times Books, New York.
- Neupert, W. (1997) Protein import into mitochondria. Annu. Rev. Biochem., 66, 863–917.
- Nohl, H. (1986) Oxygen radical release in mitochondria: influence of age. In Johnson, J.E., Walford, R., Harman, D. et al. (eds), Free Radicals, Aging, and Degenerative Diseases. Alan R. Liss, Inc., New York, pp. 77–97.
- Nosek, J., Tomaska, L., Fukuhara, H. *et al.* (1998) Linear mitochondrial genomes 30 years down the line. *Trends Genet.*, **14**, 184–188.
- Opdal, S.H., Rognum, T.O., Torgersen, H. et al. (1999) Mitochondrial DNA

- point mutations detected in four cases of sudden infant death syndrome. *Acta Paediatr.*, **88**, 957–960.
- Ozawa, T. (1997) Genetic and functional changes in mitochondria associated with aging. *Physiol. Rev.*, 77, 425–464.
- Pardo-Manuel de Villena, F., de la Casa-Esperon, E., Verner, A. *et al.* (1999) The maternal DDK syndrome phenotype is determined by modifier genes that are not linked to Om. *Mammalian Genome*, **10**, 492–497.
- Pesole, G., Gissi, C., De Chirico, A. *et al.* (1999) Nucleotide substitution rate of mammalian mitochondrial genomes. *J. Mol. Evol.*, **48**, 427–434.
- Pikó, L. (1975). Expression of mitochondrial and nuclear genes during early development. In Balls, M., and Wild, A.E. (eds), *The Early Development* of Mammals. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 167–187.
- Pikó, L. and Matsumoto, L. (1976) Numbers of mitochondria and some properties of mitochondrial DNA in the mouse egg. Dev. Biol., 49, 1–10.
- Poyton, R.O. and McEwen, J.E. (1996) Crosstalk between nuclear and mitochondrial genomes. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, **65**, 563–607.
- Pozo, J., Corral, E. and Pereda, J. (1990) Subcellular structure of prenatal human ovary: mitochondrial distribution during meiotic prophase. J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol., 22, 601–607.
- Richetti, M., Fairhead, C. and Dujon, B. (1999) Mitochondrial DNA repairs double-stranded breaks in yeast chromosomes. *Nature*, 402, 96–100.
- Ruiz, F. and Beisson, J. (1980) Genetic interactions in the control of mitochondrial functions in *Paramecium*. I. Interactions between nuclear genes. *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, 180, 553–561.
- Ruiz, F. and Knowles, J. (1980) Genetic interactions in the control of mitochondrial function in *Paramecium*. II. Interactions between nuclear and mitochondrial genomes. *Mol. Gen. Genet.*. 180, 563–572.
- Saccone, C., De Giorgi, C., Gissi, C. et al. (1999) Evolutionary genomics in Metazoa: the mitochondrial DNA as a model system. Gene, 238, 195–209.
- Sakkas, D. (1999) The need to detect DNA damage in human spermatozoa: possible consequences on embryo development. In Gagnon, C. (ed.), The Male Gamete: from Basic Science to Clinical Applications. Cache River Press, Vienna, IL, pp. 379–384.
- Sakkas, D., Mariethoz, E. and St John, J.C. (1999) Abnormal sperm parameters in humans are indicative of an abortive apoptotic mechanism linked to the Fas-mediated pathway. *Exp. Cell Res.*, 251, 350–355.
- Scarpulla, R.C. (1997) Nuclear control of respiratory chain expression in mammalian cells. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.*, **29**, 109–119.
- Shadel, G.S. and Clayton, D.A. (1997) Mitochondrial DNA maintenance in vertebrates. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, **66**, 409–435.
- Shimizu, S., Narita, M. and Tsujimoto, Y. (1999) Bcl-2 family proteins regulate the release of apoptogenic cytochrome c by the mitochondrial channel VDAC. *Nature*, 399, 483–487.
- Shitara, H., Hayashi, J., Takahama, S. *et al.* (1998) Maternal inheritance of mouse mtDNA in interspecific hybrids segregation of the leaked paternal mtDNA followed by the prevention of subsequent paternal leakage. *Genetics*, **148**, 851–857.
- Short, R.V. (1998) Difference between a testis and an ovary. J. Exp. Zool., 281, 359–361.
- Shoubridge, E.A. (1999). Transmission of mammalian mitochondrial DNA. In Gagnon, C. (ed.), *The Male Gamete: from Basic Science to Clinical Applications*. Cache River Press, Vienna, IL, pp. 283–289.
- Simerly, C., Zoran, S.S., Payne, C. et al. (1999) Biparental inheritance of gamma-tubulin during human fertilization: molecular reconstitution of functional zygotic centrosomes in inseminated human oocytes and in cellfree extracts nucleated by human sperm. Mol. Biol. Cell, 10, 2955–2969.
- Sinclair, K.D., McEvoy, T.G., Maxfield, E.K. et al. (1999) Aberrant fetal growth and development after in vitro culture of sheep zygotes. J. Reprod. Fertil., 116, 177–186.
- Smith, L.C. and Alcivar, A.A. (1993) Cytoplasmic inheritance and its effects on development and performance. J. Reprod. Fertil., Suppl., 48, 31–43.
- Smith, L.C., Bordignon, V., Garcia, J.M. et al. (2000) Mitochondrial genotype segregation and effects during mammalian development: applications to biotechnology. *Theriogenology*, 53, 35–46.
- Stanley, S.E. and Harrison, R.G. (1999) Cytochrome B evolution in birds and mammals: an evaluation of the avian constraint hypothesis. *Mol. Biol. Evol.*, **16**, 1575–1585.
- Steinborn, R., Zakhartchenko, V., Jelyazkov, J. et al. (1998a) Composition of parental mitochondrial DNA in cloned bovine embryos. FEBS Lett., 426, 352–356.
- Steinborn, R., Zakhartchenko, V., Wolf, E. et al. (1998b) Non-balanced mix of mitochondrial DNA in cloned cattle produced by cytoplast-blastomere fusion. FEBS Lett., 426, 357–361.

- St John, J.C., Cooke, I.D. and Barratt, C.L.R. (1997) Mitochondrial mutations and male infertility. *Nature Med.*, **3**, 124–125.
- St John, J., Sakkas, D., Dimitriadi, K. et al. (2000a) Failure of elimination of paternal mitochondrial DNA in abnormal embryos. Lancet, 355, 200.
- St John, J.C., Sakkas, D. and Barratt, C.L.R. (2000b) A role for mitochondrial DNA and sperm survival. *J. Androl.*, **21**, 189–199.
- Stocco, D.M. (1999) Steroidogenic acute regulatory (StAR) protein: what's new? BioEssays, 21, 768–775.
- Strauss, E. (1999) Can mitochondrial clocks keep time? *Science*, **283**, 1435, 1437–1438.
- Suganuma, N., Kitagawa, T., Nawa, A. et al. (1993) Human ovarian aging and mitochondrial DNA deletion. Horm. Res., 39, 16–21.
- Surpin, M. and Chory, J. (1997) The co-ordination of nuclear and organellar genome expression in eukaryotic cells. *Essays Biochem.*, 32, 113–125.
- Sutovsky, P., Morano, R.D., Ramalho-Santos, J. et al. (1999) Development ubiquitin tag for sperm mitochondria. Nature, 402, 371–372.
- Swann, K. and Parrington, J. (1999) Mechanism of Ca²⁺ release at fertilization in mammals. *J. Exp. Zool.*, **285**, 267–275.
- Syvanen, M. and Kado, C.I. (eds) (1999) *Horizontal Gene Transfer*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston.
- Takeda, K., Takahashi, S., Onishi, A. et al. (1999) Dominant distribution of mitochondrial DNA from recipient oocytes in bovine embryos and offspring after nuclear transfer. J. Reprod. Fertil., 116, 253–259.
- Takeda, K., Takahashi, S., Onishi, A. et al. (2000) Replicative advantage and tissue-specific segregation of RR mitochondrial DNA between C57BL/6 and RR heteroplasmic mice. Genetics, 155, 777–783.
- Tarkowski, A.K. (1998) Mouse chimeras revisited: recollections and reflections. Int. J. Dev. Biol., 42, 903–908.
- Taylor, K.D. and Pikó, L. (1995) Mitochondrial biogenesis in early mouse embryos – expression of the mRNAs for subunits IIV, VB, and VIIC of cytochrome C oxidase and subunit 9 (p1) of H⁺-ATP synthase. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.*, 40, 29–35.
- Taylor, R.W., Chinnery, P.F., Clark, K.M. et al. (1997) Treatment of mitochondrial disease. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr., 29, 195–205.
- Tesarik, J. (1999) Calcium signaling in human preimplantation development: a review. *J. Assist. Reprod. Genet.*, **16**, 216–220.
- Thompson, J.G., Gardner, D.K., Pugh, P.A. *et al.* (1995) Lamb birth weight is affected by culture system utilized during *in vitro* pre-elongation development of ovine embryos. *Biol. Reprod.*, **53**, 1385–1391.
- Thompson, J.G., Partridge, R.J., Houghton, F.D. *et al.* (1996) Oxygen uptake and carbohydrate metabolism by *in vitro* derived bovine embryos. *J. Reprod. Fertil.*, **106**, 299–306.
- Thompson, W.E., Powell, J.M., Whittaker, J.A. *et al.* (1999) Immunolocalization and expression of prohibitin, a mitochondrial associated protein within the rat ovaries. *Anat. Rec.*, **256**, 40–48.
- Thorsness, P.E. and Weber, E.R. (1996) Escape and migration of nucleic acids between chloroplasts, mitochondria, and the nucleus. *Int. Rev. Cytol.*, **165**, 207–234.
- Trbovich, A.M., Hughes, F.M., Jr., Perez, G.I. et al. (1998) High and low molecular weight DNA cleavage in ovarian granulosa cells: characterization and protease modulation in intact cells and in cell-free nuclear autodigestion assays. Cell Death Differ., 5, 38–49.
- Van Blerkom, J. (1989) Developmental failure in human reproduction associated with preovulatory oogenesis and pre-implantation embryogenesis. In Van Blerkom, J. and Motta, P. (eds), *Ultrastructure* of Human Gametogenesis and Embryogenesis. Kluwer, Dordrecht, pp. 125–180.
- Van Blerkom, J. (1991) Microtubule mediation of cytoplasmic and nuclear maturation during the early stages of resumed meiosis in cultured mouse oocytes. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, 88, 5031–5035.
- Van Blerkom, J. (1998) Epigenetic influences on oocyte developmental

- competence: perifollicular vascularity and intrafollicular oxygen. J. Assist. Reprod. Genet., 15, 226–234.
- Van Blerkom, J., Davis, P.W. and Lee, J. (1995) ATP content of human oocytes and developmental potential and outcome after in-vitro fertilization and embryo transfer. *Hum. Reprod.*, 10, 415–424.
- Van Blerkom, J., Sinclair, J. and Davis, P. (1998) Mitochondrial transfer between oocytes: potential applications of mitochondrial donation and the issue of heteroplasmy. *Hum. Reprod.*, 13, 2857–2868.
- Vergani, L., Rossi, R., Brierley, C.H. *et al.* (1999) Introduction of heteroplasmic mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) from a patient with NARP into two human rho degrees cell lines is associated either with selection and maintenance of NARP mutant mtDNA or failure to maintain mtDNA. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, **8**, 1751–1755.
- Wakayama, T. and Yanagimachi, R. (1998) Fertilisability and developmental ability of mouse oocytes with reduced amounts of cytoplasm. *Zygote*, 6, 341–346.
- Wakayama, T. and Yanagimachi, R. (1999) Cloning the laboratory mouse. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol., 10, 253–258.
- Wakayama, T., Perry, A.C.F., Zuccotti, M. et al. (1998) Full-term development of mice from enucleated oocytes injected with cumulus cell nuclei. Nature, 394, 369–374.
- Wallace, D.C. (1997) Mitochondrial DNA in aging and disease. *Sci. Am.*, **277**, 40–47.
- Wallace, D.C. (1999) Mitochondrial diseases in man and mouse. Science, 283, 1482–1488.
- Wallace, D.C., Shoffner, J.M., Trounce, I. et al. (1995) Mitochondrial DNA mutations in human degenerative diseases and aging. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis., 1271, 141–151.
- Wallace, D.C., Stugard, C., Murdock, D. et al. (1997) Ancient mtDNA sequences in the human nuclear genome: a potential source of errors in identifying pathogenic mutations. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA, 94, 14900–14905.
- Wallace, D.C., Brown, M.D. and Lott, M.T. (1999) Mitochondrial DNA variation in human evolution and disease. Gene. 238, 211–230.
- Wei, Y.H. and Kao, S.H. (2000) Mitochondrial DNA mutation and depletion are associated with decline of fertility and motility of human sperm. *Zoological Studies*, **39**, 1–12.
- Wilmut, I., Schnieke, A.E., McWhir, J. et al. (1997) Viable offspring derived from fetal and adult mammalian cells. *Nature*, **385**, 810–813.
- Wolffe, A.P. and Matzke, M.A. (1999) Epigenetics: regulation through repression [In Process Citation]. *Science*, **286**, 481–486.
- Wu, X.Y. and Palazzo, R.E. (1999) Differential regulation of maternal vs. paternal centrosomes. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA, 96, 1397–1402.
- Yamaoka, M., Isobe, K., Shitara, H. et al. (2000) Complete repopulation of mouse mitochondrial DNA-less cells with rat mitochondrial DNA restores mitochondrial translation but not mitochondrial respiratory function. Genetics, 155, 301–307.
- Yang, Y., Bogerd, H.P., Peng, S. et al. (1999) An ancient family of human endogenous retroviruses encodes a functional homolog of the HIV-1 Rev protein. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA, 96, 13404–13408.
- Young, L.E., Sinclair, K.D. and Wilmut, I. (1998) Large offspring syndrome in cattle and sheep. Rev. Reprod., 3, 155–163.
- Zamzami, N., Hirsch, T., Dallaporta, B. et al. (1997) Mitochondrial implication in accidental and programmed cell death: apoptosis and necrosis. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr., 29, 185–193.
- Zeviani, M. and Antozzi, C. (1997) Mitochondrial disorders. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.*, 3, 133–148.
- Zhang, J., Wang, C.W., Krey, L. et al. (1999) In vitro maturation of human preovulatory oocytes reconstructed by germinal vesicle transfer. Fertil. Steril., 71, 726–731.
- Received on December 1, 1999; accepted on November 23, 2000